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NOTE:  Follow-up interviews were not conducted for all contacts classified as 
“Witness”: 
 
• Investigators were unable to reach two contacts for an interview (Adair, T. Johnson); 
• Two contacts could not provide additional information and there was no interview 

beyond initial contact (Gode, Pease); 
• Two contacts were handled by the Survival Factors Group (Appell, Bennett-

Kilander); and 
• One contact was handled by the Construction Group (Rue) 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Aaron S. Becker, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 
    
INTERVIEWER: Officer Thomas Hendrickson, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mr. Becker stated that he was on the left side of the boat’s upper deck about 10 to 
15 feet back from the staircase.  He stated that he first saw a cloud of dust in the center 
section of the bridge and heard a very loud rumble, metal on metal banging, and creaking.  
Mr. Becker indicated that he saw the center section fall, splash into the water, followed 
by the North section of the bridge jetting up.  He was walking from the rear to the front of 
the boat at the time of the collapse.  Mr. Becker said that he did not hear or see any 
construction going or traffic on the bridge prior to the collapse.  He took about 20 
pictures of the bridge post-collapse and gave those photos have been provided to the 
NTSB. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
 

INTERVIEWEE: ---------- ------------- 
   -------------------------- 
   -------------------------- 
    
INTERVIEWER: Investigator Dennis Collins, NTSB Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  10-10-2007 
 
LOCATION:  Via telephone 
 

Mr. Carlson called the toll-free number established by the Board following the 
collapse of the I-35W bridge in Minneapolis and was identified as being a witness to the 
collapse. 
 

On August 1, 2007, Mr. Carlson was jogging from downtown Minneapolis along 
the south side of the river; this put him running upstream towards the I-35W bridge.  Mr. 
Carlson stated he would run this route two or three times a week.  As he approached the 
bridge, a point five or six miles into his run, he heard what he could only describe as a 
“roar”. He looked to his right, and saw the section of the span come down “in one solid 
sheet”.  He stated it almost seemed that it was falling in slow motion.  Under questioning, 
he described the section that fell as over the river, running bank-to-bank.  He was very 
clear that the section of the span immediately in front of him did not move prior to the 
“roar”.  Mr. Carlson stated he was so close he was caught in the debris cloud. 

 
When asked, Mr. Carlson stated he did not notice anything unusual about the 

bridge prior to the “roar”.  He estimated his distance from the span and approximately 15 
feet.  He stated the “roar” was most definitely not an explosion. 

 
Following the collapse, Mr. Carlson used is cellular phone to call 911.  He stated 

the media had played his call many times; he was the caller that told the dispatcher to 
“send everything”.  After the call to 911, he ran to the river to see if he could help.  He 
stated he did not see anyone in the river, so he helped a young – estimated 16 year old – 
male from his car.  Mr. Carlson did not get the young man’s name, nor could he 
remember the make and model of the car.  According to Mr. Carlson, the Fire 
Department arrived and asked him to leave the area, which he did. 

 
When asked if he had ever experienced anything unusual while running under the 

I-35W bridge, Mr. Carlson stated he had noted the metal substructure of the bridge 
“looked like hell” on a run earlier in the year. 

 
Mr. Carlson also gave a statement to the FBI; he was unable to recall the 

interviewing agent’s name. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Frank Christopher, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 
   DOB: UNK 

   
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN  
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mr. Christopher stated that she was sitting on the bench at the front of the boat at 
the time of the collapse.  He stated that Jim Styczinski was sitting to his left and Janelle 
Lehmann (Mr. Christopher’s girlfriend) was sitting to his right on the bench.  Mr. 
Christopher indicated that he was eating some food and was thinking that the music 
coming from the boat’s speakers was kind of loud, he then indicated that he heard a noise 
that he first thought was static coming from the boat’s speakers.  At the that time he 
looked up and saw the decking of the bridge just north of the pier that was directly in 
front of the boat fall.  He indicated that it feel down at an angle with maybe some small 
rotation towards where the boat was. 
 

Mr. Christopher said that he only heard the “static” noise before the collapse and 
did not recall any sounds at all during or after the collapse.  He said that it was strangely 
quiet after the collapse.  Mr. Christopher said that he did not hear or see any construction 
going on or traffic on the bridge prior to the collapse. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Lisa ----------------- Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 
   DOB--------- ----------------------- 

   
INTERVIEWER: Sgt. Thomas Stiller, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN  
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 
  Ms. Chubb stated that she was standing at the front of the boat on the first level 
with Rebecca Degendorfer when she heard a “crumbling” sound like concrete falling and 
the sound of screeching tires coming from the direction of the bridge.  Ms. Chubb stated 
that she observed the center section of the bridge fall straight down without twisting or 
turning. The view then became partially obscured by a cloud of dust. After the dust 
settled, Ms. Chubb stated that she could see vehicles to the north of the bridge and 
remembered a teal colored van turned into the median.  Ms. Chubb stated that she 
observed people on the bridge assisting others in exiting their vehicles.  Ms. Chubb stated 
that she observed a black sedan driving southbound on the bridge and observed this 
vehicle fall from the bridge and then disappear into the dust.  
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
 

INTERVIEWEE: ---- - ---------------------- :-------------- ) 
   --------------- -------------- - -- -------- 
   ------------ --------------- ------------- ---------------- 
   ------------------------- ----------------- 
    
INTERVIEWER: Investigator Dennis Collins, NTSB Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  8-6-2007, 1700 hrs 
 
LOCATION:  St. Anthony’s Lock 
 

Mr. Crosby was identified as a witness to the collapse through on-scene 
investigation. 

 
 Mr. Crosby is employed at the Lower St. Anthony’s Lock as a Lock and Dam 
Operator.  He has been employed at St. Anthony’s Lock (both upper and lower) for 17 
years.  He has been assigned to the Lower Lock for the past two years.  He was working 
on Wednesday, August 1, 2007.  He describes the day as average, with nothing out of the 
ordinary until the collapse of the bridge. 
 
 According to Mr. Crosby, at approximately 6:00 p.m., a vessel, the Minneapolis 
Queen, was preparing to transition the lower lock.  The lower gates were closed and the 
upper gates were open, but the vessel had not yet entered the lock.  He described the 
vessel’s position as several dozen yards away from the upper gates.  Mr. Crosby stated he 
was outside the lock building, leaning against the railing, looking toward the I-35W 
bridge when it collapsed.  He described seeing a “puff of dust” from the top of pier 6, the 
pier directly in front of him as he looked at the bridge.  He stated the bridge collapsed in 
sections but fell quickly, taking perhaps eight or ten seconds to completely fall.  Mr. 
Crosby stated he witnessed at least three cars from the SB lanes fall off the bridge, but 
was unable to provide any details such as color or make. 
 
 Following the collapse, Mr. Crosby thought to call 911, and began to move inside 
to do so, but was told by another lock employee that 911 had been called and to open the 
parking lot gates into the facility to facilitate the emergency response instead.  According 
to Mr. Crosby, he did so, but then thought that some of the area’s homeless or other 
civilians might enter the collapse area, so he closed the gates.  He then recalls changing 
his mind, and opening them again.  He described his mental state as confused and 
indecisive, and believes he opened and closed the gates several times. 
 
 Mr. Crosby was very emotional and was unable to provide any additional 
information. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
 

INTERVIEWEE: --------------- ---------- 
   -------------------------- 
    
INTERVIEWER: Investigator Dennis Collins, NTSB Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  10-10-2007 
 
LOCATION:  Via telephone 
 

Ms. Dahl called the toll-free number established by the Board following the 
collapse of the I-35W bridge in Minneapolis and was identified as being a witness to the 
collapse. 
 

According to Ms. Dahl, she lives on University Street and was going to the 
Minnesota Twins baseball game on August 1, 2007.  Her route took her onto the 10th 
Avenue bridge, heading towards the I-35W bridge.  The position of her car allowed her to 
witness the collapse. 
 

Ms. Dahl stated there was a loud sound she described as “KABOOM”, then a 
large cloud of dust.  She stated the section of the bridge closest to downtown fell first, 
then the middle of the span, then finally the side closest to University Street.  She stated 
she pulled over, stopped her car, and began taking pictures.  She estimated her distance 
from the I-35W bridge as approximately 100 feet. 
 

According to Ms. Dahl, approximately one or two minutes after the collapse, a 
police car came along the 10th Avenue bridge and warned the bystanders to remain clear 
of the collapse.  She stated the first fire truck and ambulance arrived within two minutes 
as well.  She stated the semi-truck that burned began to do so approximately 20 minutes 
after the collapse.  She stated she remained on the 10th Avenue bridge for 20 or 25 
minutes following the collapse, leaving to clear the bridge for use by emergency vehicles. 
 

When asked, Ms. Dahl estimated there were approximately 150 cars on the bridge 
at the time of the collapse, with 10 to 20 of them remaining on the span after the collapse.  
She specifically stated she did not see or hear anything unusual before the initial 
“KABOOM”. 
 

Ms. Dahl also gave a statement to the FBI; she could only recall the agent’s first 
name (Susan) and that she was with the Minneapolis office of the FBI. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Rebec--------------- ndorfer, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 
   DOB:--------- ----------------------- 

   
INTERVIEWER: Sgt. Thomas Stiller, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN  
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Ms. Degendorfer stated that she was standing at the front of the boat on the first 
level at the time of the collapse.  Ms. Degendorfer stated that the other people at the front 
of the boat were Pat Hanson, Lisa Chubb, Heather Steffan, Machelle Kelley, Robert 
Kelley, and Shawn Thao. She thinks that David Steffan may also have been standing up 
front, but could not be sure.  Interviewee stated that Frank Christopher with his Fiancé’ 
Janelle Lehmann and Aaron Becker were seated on a bench at the front of the boat. 
Interviewee remembers Rick Sobotka was at the front, but was on the left side of the 
boat. Interviewee also remembers that crewmembers Ross and Andy were also at the bow 
of the boat. 

 
Ms. Degendorfer stated that the party (ISS Group) had been on the boat for 

approximately 35 minutes before the collapse of the bridge.  She stated that she could not 
see all the way to the south of the bridge due to trees that were obstructing the view.  She 
saw the section furthest to the south before the trees twist toward her and then fall. After 
that the middle section of bridge fell straight down into the river.  As the bridge began to 
fall Ms. Degendorfer stated that she heard a loud rumbling and then heard the clanging of 
what she believes to be the sound of metal on metal. Interviewee saw vehicles on the 
bridge prior to and after the collapse.  She stated that she saw lots of people in the water 
after the collapse, but could not tell which were victims and which were rescuers. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Ross -------------  Deck Hand on board the Minneapolis Queen 
   DOB:--------- -------------------- 

   
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 

Sgt. Thomas Stiller, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-6-2007 
LOCATION:  On board the Minneapolis Queen, docked at Boom Island 
 

The interviewee was a deck hand on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed.   
 

At the time of the I-35W bridge collapse, on 8-1-2007, Mr. Dzurko said that the 
boat was approaching the lock.  Mr. Dzurko indicated that he was located on the first 
level of the boat, toward the front of the boat, on the right side, near the railing.  He said 
that he was looking straight ahead when he observed piers of both side of the bridge pop 
up.  He said that the center part of the bridge then looked like a “U” and rotated toward 
him as it collapsed.  He heard the sounds of one big bang and the crackling as if a tree 
were falling down.   

 
In reference other passengers and crew of the boat around him, Mr. Dzurko 

indicated that Andrew Schwert was behind him and there was a female passenger also on 
the bow of the boat.  Mr. Schwert did not see or hear any traffic or construction on the 
bridge prior to it collapsing. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Melvin Evans 
    
INTERVIEWER: Lt. Kim Lund, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  11-26-2007 
 
LOCATION:  Via telephone 
 
 Mr. Evans was a construction worker assigned to the on-going project on the I-
35W bridge at the time of the collapse. 

  
Location at the time of the collapse: 

Just north of the bridge near an underpass, facing southbound walking toward a 
PCI trailer.  Observed what looked like a "twister" on the bridge.  Melvin yelled to his 
boss, Mark Tredles (unk spelling) "the bridge is gone".  Melvin stated that he did not 
remember hearing anything. 

  
Melvin ran down the embankment on the north side of the now down bridge to 

the rubble and ran to a vehicle that had a female in it (Mercedes Gorden) someone was 
with her, he told her to hang on that help was coming.  Melvin then saw a co-worker, 
Hector with his head smashed against a rock and a bone sticking up through his arm, he 
then heard a girl yell "help our Mom!"  Melvin stepped over to what he first thought was 
a light colored car (later found to be the Coulters van) Melvin saw Paula in the rear of the 
vehicle and attempted to get her out of the car, as he was pulling her out, he fell back 
with her on top of him, he stated that he landed on something sharp, injuring his back, 
others joined him and he got the girls and Paula to the edge to be brought up the 
embankment, Melvin then helped get Hector to the bank and up and returned to help a 
police officer remove a very pregnant woman out of a vehicle and up for medical 
attention.  Melvin went to the river and helped people that had been in the water off the 
boats and up the bank. 

  
I asked Melvin what he felt prior to the collapse while on the bridge.  Melvin told 

me that he had been assigned to work on the bridge last June, since being on it, it seemed 
bouncy, kind of rubbery compared to other bridges.  At one time he was working with a 
crane operator under the bridge filling holes and he felt that the bridge looked rotted and 
decayed. 

  
Melvin is currently being covered by work comp for his injuries he was diagnosed with a 
severe lumbar strain; he is in physical therapy and seeing a chiropractor. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
 

INTERVIEWEE: -------- ------------- 
   -------------------------- 
    
INTERVIEWER: Investigator Dennis Collins, NTSB Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  10-24-2007 
 
LOCATION:  Via telephone 
 

Mr. Hanson called the toll-free number established by the Board following the 
collapse of the I-35W bridge in Minneapolis and was identified as a witness to the 
collapse 
 

On August 1, 2007, Mr. Hanson was working as a tour guide for Mobile 
Entertainment, LLC (952-884-8991); it was his third summer doing so.  The company 
offers tours of the Minneapolis area, including one that includes the Stone Arch bridge 
and the St. Anthony Lock and Dam.  Tours begin at 10 a.m. and 3 p.m. and typically last 
two and a half to three hours, including a half hour training/safety briefing session for the 
people taking the tour.  The company also offers private tours; Mr. Hanson was the guide 
for one that departed at 5:15 p.m. 
 

At approximately 6:00 p.m., Mr. Hanson and his tour (consisting of five people) 
were on the Stone Arch bridge.  Mr. Hanson was facing the falls and lock and dam, 
discussing the Stone Arch bridge and the falls, when he heard a sound he could only 
describe as being like the sound in the movies when a building falls.  He stated he turned 
towards the noise and observed the I-35W bridge collapsing. 
 

According to Mr. Hanson, the middle of the span fell first.  After an estimated one 
or two seconds, the north end of the bridge – closest to the University of Minnesota – 
went vertical, with the side closest to the bank falling to become straight up and down. 
 

Mr. Hanson and one of the people on the tour used their cell phones to call 911.  
They remained on the Stone Arch bridge until they realized EMS units were using the 
bridge to cross the river; they left the bridge so as to not be in the way. 
 

When asked, Mr. Hanson stated he would typically conduct two or three tours a 
day, five days a week.  He did not recall anything unusual or odd with respect to the I-
35W bridge on any of his previous tours. 
 

Special Agent Koffman of the FBI also interviewed Mr. Hanson. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
 

INTERVIEWEE: Craig Stephan Johnson, Southbound driver on the North side of the 
bridg---- ----------- collapse 

 DOB-------------- 
    
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 

Sgt. Thomas Stiller, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-10-2007 
LOCATION:  Arms and Armor 
   Stinson and Broadway 
   Minneapolis, MN 
 
 

The interviewee was driving in his yellow Chevy pickup truck on his was home 
from work southbound on I-35W approaching the bridge at the time of the collapse.  He 
indicated that traffic was moving slowly, possibly about 10 mph.  Mr. Johnson noted that 
the first thing that he saw was a trailer of the construction crew and some vehicles that 
were on the bridge rise into the air ahead of him.  He said that the bridge deck seemed to 
rise up to follow them.  He then heard and felt a deep tension release like a spring letting 
go.  The entire mass of material settled back to the deck level seemed to slide toward him 
and then fall away.  The edge of he deck in front of him disappeared as he saw vehicles 
slide down backwards out of site. 

 
Mr. Johnson typed up his account of the bridge collapse the evening of the 

collapse and provided of copy of that to the interviewers. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
 

INTERVIEWEE: Robert Johnson, 
 --------------------------------- -------------------------------------- 
    
INTERVIEWER: Investigator Dennis Collins, NTSB Office of Highway Safety  
 
DATE:  11-07-2007 
 
LOCATION:  Via telephone 
 

On August 1, 2007, at approximately 1800 hours, Mr. Johnson was under the 10th 
Avenue bridge, on the east bank of the river.  He heard what he described as a "big, loud,
crack” and looked up at the 10th Avenue bridge.  Seeing nothing, he then looked
at the I-35W bridge and saw what he described as the bridge being “ripped” off 
one of the piers and falling towards him.  When asked if he could described the collapse 
in more detail, Mr. Johnson stated the center span, across the river, fell as one piece.  The 
span at the opposite end of the river collapsed into a “V” shape; Mr. Johnson stated he 
did not see much of this end collapse, as he was watching the section of the bridge on his 
side of the river. 

 
When asked about his experience with the I-35W bridge, Mr. Johnson stated he 

crossed it every day.  He went on to state he had not had any prior odd or unusual 
experiences with the I-35W bridge.  Mr. Johnson was not interviewed by any other 
agency. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Machael Kelley, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 
   Sgt. Thomas Stiller, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-9-2007 
LOCATION:  Residence 

---------------  ----- 
---------------- 

 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Ms. Kelley stated that she was standing at the left front of the boat on the lower 
deck at the time of the collapse.  She stated that her husband, Rob Kelley, and Heather 
Steffan were standing near her.  Ms. Kelley indicated that she was looking forward at the 
bridge prior to it collapsing.  She saw “poof” of concrete dust in the area of the pier that 
was directly in front of the boat, just to the left (North) of the pier.  She did not recall 
hearing any noises, only seeing the bridge fall.  Ms. Kelley stated that the bridge 
appeared to rotate towards the boat, since she could see the lanes of traffic.  She 
specifically stated that the section in front of the boat (South End) started the collapse 
with the “poof” of dust.  She said that after than the bridge rippled to the North and the 
sections fell pulling each other down like dominos.  

 
Ms. Kelley said that she did not hear or see any construction going on or traffic on 

the bridge prior to the collapse. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Rober-------------- lley, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 
   DOB:--------- --------------------- 

   
INTERVIEWER: Sgt. Thomas Stiller, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN  
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. Mr. Kelley 
stated that he was standing at the front of the boat on the first level next to the gangplank, 
facing forward. He stated that the other people at the front of the boat were his wife, 
(Machelle Kelley) Bruce Hanson and his wife, Rick Sobotka, Heather Steffan, Frank 
Christoper, and his girlfriend.     
 

Mr. Kelley stated that he heard creaking, groaning, and metal twisting and looked 
up toward the bridge.  He indicated that the first disconnect that he saw was from the pier 
directly in front of the boat, then the piers to the right of that pier turned toward him and 
fell.  He indicated that he was not looking at the bridge when it began to fall, but that his 
wife was, and that she was a better witness to the collapse. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
 

INTERVIEWEE: Joyce Farr Kenney, Westbound driver on West River Road, to the 
East of the bridge prior to the collapse 

    
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 

Sgt. Thomas Stiller, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-10-2007 
LOCATION:  --------------------- 
   --------------- --- -- -------------- 
   ------------------------ ------------- 
 
 

The interviewee was driving in her blue Mercury sedan on her way home from 
work westbound on West River Road, which runs East/West and goes under the I-35W 
bridge.  At the time of the collapse Mrs. Kenney had just passed under the 10th Ave 
Bridge and was approaching the I-35W bridge when see witnessed a “huge wall of water” 
to her right, where the river was.  Mrs. Kenney described that when the wall of water 
dissipated she saw the North end of the bridge hanging into the water like a slide.  She 
indicated that there were two other cars on West River Road near her, one of which was a 
red minivan.  On the South side of the bridge, directly in front of where Mrs. Kenney was 
located she observed several crushed cars, bloody people, and the crush truck cab that 
was partially under the bridge.  Mrs. Kenney explained that she is a retired registered 
nurse and she wanted to provide assistance to the injured people, but the terrain of the 
broken bridge would have been too difficult for her to climb, as she was 60 years old.  
Mrs. Kenney then turned her vehicle around and got out of the way to allow emergency 
vehicles better assess to the scene. 

      
Mrs. Kenney did not notice any noises prior to or during the collapse.  She did not 

observe the cloud of dust that others saw from where she was on the east side of the 
bridge.  Mrs. Kenney described that after the bridge collapsed, there was an strange 
silence.    
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Charles Leekley, Captain of the Minneapolis Queen 
   DOB: --------------------- 

   
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 

Sgt. Thomas Stiller, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-7-2007 
LOCATION:  On board the Minneapolis Queen, docked at Boom Island 
 
 The interviewee was the captain of the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed.  Mr. Leekley 
indicated that he had about 17 years experience in boating on the Mississippi River.  He 
said that he was very familiar with the river and the surrounding buildings and bridges, as 
he gave tours of the area.  On the day of the collapse Mr. Leekley set sail at about 5:00 
pm with 49 passengers and 3 crewmembers on board the Minneapolis Queen.     
 

Mr. Leekley first provided that he had a theory for the cause of the collapse.  His 
theory related to a previous collapse of the Northern States Power Hydro-electric station 
at the Upper Saint Anthony Lock and Dam in 1987.  According to Mr. Leekley, this 
collapse resulted from the underwater currents of the Mississippi River that eroded the 
footing for the power station foundation. 

 
At the time of the I-35W bridge collapse, on 8-1-2007, Mr. Leekley indicated that 

he was inside the captain’s observation deck, located on the upper level of the boat.  He 
said that he was steering the boat toward the lock that was just up river before the bridge.  
He said that at the time of the collapse he had not reached the lock yet, and was maybe 
100 feet from the lock doors.  He reported that he was moving the boat through a bend 
and looking forward and did not see much, but said that the bridge appeared to him to 
come down all at once as a fast blur.  He said that he saw the bridge pier ahead of the 
boat leaning.  He noticed a dark blue pickup truck go into the water. 

 
Prior to the collapse Mr. Leekley never considered the bridge to be dangerous 

while negotiating his boat under it.  He had not previously noted construction noises or 
holes in the bridge deck. 

 
After the collapse Mr. Leekley said that he offered his boat in the assistance of 

helping the injured people down below the lock.  He said that they entered the lock, then 
existed the lock and parked along side the river, then entered and existed the lock once 
more before a decision was made not to send his boat down to the collapsed bridge due to 
the water that would have been let into the collapse area as a result of opening the lock 
doors.  He then indicated that he returned to Boom Island with all the original passengers 
and that they arrived back at about 7:00 p.m. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Janelle Lehmann, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 
    
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  8-9-2007 
LOCATION:  Office Building 

6600 France Ave South 
Edina, MN  

 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Ms. Lehmann stated that she was sitting on the bench at the front of the boat on 
the lower level at the time of the collapse.  She stated that her boyfriend, Frank 
Christopher and Jim Styczinski were also sitting on the bench.  Ms. Lehmann indicated 
that she heard a rumbling sound followed by a brown wave cloud of smoke or dust.  Ms. 
Lehmann stated that she had previously lived in Japan and was familiar with earthquakes 
and initially thought that the collapse was an earthquake.  After hearing the sound she 
looked left to right and saw the bridge “come apart at its seams”.        
 

Ms. Lehmann said that he did not hear or see any construction going on or traffic 
on the bridge prior to the collapse. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
 

INTERVIEWEE: Dr. Cary N. Mariash (DOB:---------------  
   Professor of Medicine 
   Director, Division of Endocrinology & Diabetes 
   6-120 Phillips Wangensteen Building 
   516 Delaware Street S.E. 
   U.S. Mail MMC 101 
   420 Delaware Street S.E. 
   Minneapolis, MN 55455 
 
   --------------- --- -- ---------------  
   -------------- -------------------- ------------- ---------------- 
 
   612.626.1960 OFFICE 
   ----------------  TOLL FREE 
   ----------------  APPTS 
   ----------------  HOME 
   ------------------------- --------------- 
   -- - ------------------ 
 
INTERVIEWER: Investigator Dennis Collins, NTSB Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  6-5-2007, 1140 hrs 
 
LOCATION:  6-120 Phillips Wangensteen Building 
 

Dr. Mariash called the toll-free number established by the Board following the 
collapse of the I-35W bridge in Minneapolis and was identified as a potential witness. 

 
Dr. Mariash was northbound on the I-35W bridge at approximately 6:10 p.m. on 

Wednesday, August 1, 2007.  He stated he was on his way home from his office and had 
departed his office at five or ten minutes before six.  He was traveling in the leftmost 
open lane (two lanes of travel were closed due to construction activities).  When asked, 
he estimated his speed as being between 20 and 30 miles per hour.  He described the 
traffic as heavy, but typical for rush hour. 

 
 Dr. Mariash stated he observed a “truck” (the trailer for a semi-tractor trailer) next 
to the median, in the construction area.  A crane was positioned to the north of the truck.  
Dr. Mariash could not recall if a power unit (tractor) was attached to the trailer.  
According to Dr. Mariash, he observed motion in the area of the trailer, and described the 
trailer as appearing to fall, hit the road, and bounce.  A cloud of cement dust came up 
after the trailer bounced.  Dr. Mariash stated the trailer did strike a car parked in the 
construction area, although he was unsure if the trailer hit the car during its initial fall or 
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after it bounced.  He described his position during these events as just about even with 
the trailer. 
 
 Dr. Mariash proceeded past the trailer, then heard a loud noise he described as a 
“bang” or a “pop”.  He proceeded north, and was unaware anything else had happened 
until he saw police responding in the southbound lanes. 
 
 When asked to describe his normal route home, Dr. Mariash stated that since the 
construction, he normally entered the freeway at University Avenue; however, on the day 
of the collapse, he entered the freeway at Washington.  He stated he drove this route five 
days a week as his normal commute. 
 
 When asked if he recalled the positions of any other vehicles on the bridge, Dr. 
Mariash recalled a black Jeep that passed him and exited right after the bridge.  He was 
able to recall a red Porsche in front of him, but could not provide descriptions of any 
vehicles behind him.  He stated that he did not notice any thing else unusual. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Robert F.K. Martin, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Officer Thomas Hendrickson, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mr. Martin stated that he was standing at the left side of boat on the upper deck, 
about in the middle of the side, at the railing.  He stated that his wife, Stephanie 
Sarantoupolus, was standing near him.  Mr. Martin indicated that he observed a cloud of 
dust from the North section of the bridge, heard a noise of metal on metal sound and 
metal banging together.  He said that he saw the center section fall followed by the pier 
on the North side of the bridge pull away, and then saw the North side drop.  He said that 
he saw a white vehicle on the center section bounce off the bridge railing and fall into the 
water. 
 

Ms. Martin said that he was aware of the construction on the bridge but did not 
hear or see any construction going on, or traffic, on the bridge just prior to the collapse. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Kathleen J. McMahon, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Officer Thomas Hendrickson, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Ms. McMahon stated that she was on the left side of the boat’s upper deck 
walking from the rear to the front of the boat at the time of the collapse.  She stated that 
she heard a loud sound like a “boom” she then looked up and saw the middle section of 
the bride fall.  She said that there was then a cloud of dust followed by the North side of 
the bridge falling.  

 
Ms. Kelley said that she did not hear or see any construction going on or traffic on 

the bridge prior to the collapse. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
 

INTERVIEWEE: David Nerva (DOB:---------------  
   Lower St. Anthony -------- 
   1 Portland Avenue 
   ------------------------ ------------- ------ 1 
   ------------------------- -- -- ------------- 
 
   ------------ - --- ----------- 
   ----------------- ------------- ----------------------- 
   ------------------------- ----------------- 
    
INTERVIEWER: Investigator Dennis Collins, NTSB Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  8-6-2007, 1700 hrs 
 
LOCATION:  St. Anthony’s Lock 
 

Mr. Nerva was identified as a witness to the collapse through on-scene 
investigation. 

 
Mr. Nerva is employed at the Lower St. Anthony’s Lock as a Lock and Dam 

Head Operator.  He started at the Lock in March of 1976 at the Upper Lock.  He was 
moved to the Lower Lock in 1983.  He was working on August 1, 2007.  He described 
activity on the I-35W bridge that day as ordinary, although he remarked that the 
construction was often loud enough that he wore earplugs when outside on the lock. 

 
At approximately 6:00 p.m., the Minneapolis Queen was preparing for a 

southbound lockage.  Mr. Nerva was unsure if the vessel had a red or green signal.  Mr. 
Nerva had just completed a security check of the warehouse and was moving along the 
lock in the direction of the bridge when it collapsed.  He stated he heard a sound 
described as a “crunch”, then the bridge began to collapse.  He described the collapse of 
the bridge as occurring in stages; he likened the process to dominos falling.  He recalls 
seeing “several” cars falling, but was unsure of exactly how many fell. 
 
 After the collapse, Mr. Nerva recalls telling Mr. Crosby that he had called 911, 
but is unsure if he actually did so.  Mr. Nerva told Mr. Crosby to open the parking lot 
gates to allow emergency vehicles into the area, and then went to launch one of the lock’s 
boats to assist the victims of the collapse.  According to Mr. Nerva, he could not get the 
boat into the water because the boom’s battery was dead.  Eventually, he was able to get 
the boat in the water with the help of emergency personnel. 
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 Mr. Nerva recalled a request by the Minnesota Queen to complete passage 
through the lock to assist the victims; however, the lockmaster denied this request, as he 
was afraid opening the lock would make the situation worse. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
 

INTERVIEWEE: Margaret Pemble 
   -------------------------- 
    
INTERVIEWER: Investigator Dennis Collins, NTSB Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  10-16-2007 
 
LOCATION:  Via telephone 
 

Ms. Pemble called the toll-free number established by the Board following the 
collapse of the I-35W bridge in Minneapolis and was identified as being a witness to the 
collapse. 
 

Ms. Pemble lives in Riverview Tower to the southeast of the I-35W bridge.  Her 
apartment faces downtown and the bridge.  On August 1, 2007, she was at home when 
she heard what she thought was thunder.  She looked up at her window, looking for the 
rain, and saw from the corner of her eye what she describes as “a puff of smoke”.  Her 
initial thought was the “smoke” was a result of the jack hammering operation on the 
bridge; she had been hearing it all summer, including that day.  She took a closer look at 
the bridge and realized it was moving.  Ms. Pemble described the motion as a left to right 
swaying motion. 
 

As Ms. Pemble watched, the bridge “heaved up” in what she described as a “wave 
motion” that began on the south end of the bridge and traveled towards the river.  The 
span broke in the center during this motion; Ms. Pemble described the break as 
“crumbling”, not a clean break.  She saw construction workers and cars fall into the river. 
 
Ms. Pemble used her phone to call 911 as she continued to observe the scene.  She recalls 
seeing green iron on the north side of the span.  She stated the north side “snapped” in 
half, a break she could both hear and feel (she stated the building rocked).  She contrasted 
this with the break to the south, which she could neither hear nor feel.  Ms. Pemble 
observed construction workers around the Tasty truck, but could not tell what they were 
doing.  She left her apartment and went to the scene, arriving at approximately 1815 
hours. 
 

Ms. Pemble stated she took pictures following the collapse and agreed to provide 
copies to the Board. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Stephanie M. Sarantoupolus, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 

Sgt. Thomas Stiller, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-10-2007 
LOCATION:  IDS Building 

900 Nicolette Mall 
Minneapolis, MN 

    
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Ms. Sarantopoulus stated that she was standing at the left side of boat on the 
upper deck, at the railing.  He stated that Kathy McMahon was behind her and that 
Aaron, did not know his last name, was in front of her.  Ms. Sarantopoulus indicated that 
she witnessed a combination of sound and site at the South end of the bridge.  She said 
that the South end of the bridge “snapped” very loudly and fell into the water.  She then 
heard a cracking noise, then rumbling, then everything giving way and “coming 
unglued”.   

   
Ms. Sarantopoulus said that she saw construction barrels on the bridge prior to the 

collapse but did not hear any construction noises.  She also indicated that she could see 
traffic on the bridge, but not in the outside (closest to boat) lane and thought that there 
were fewer cars that usual. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Julie Schwartz 
   -------------------------- 
 
INTERVIEWER: Investigator Dennis Collins, NTSB Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:   04-08-2008 
 
LOCATION:  Via telephone (SUPPLEMENTAL INTERVIEW) 
 
 Ms. Schwartz contacted the Safety Board In April 2008 in order to provide 
additional information regarding the collapse of the I-35W bridge. 
 
 When interviewed on April 8, 2008, Ms. Schwartz stated she crossed the bridge at 
approximately 1650 hours on the day of the collapse.  She described the traffic on the 
bridge as “flow-and-go”, stating that it was moving better than what she would describe 
as stop-and-go.  According to Ms. Schwartz, she felt what she described as an “odd” 
movement of the bridge; when questioned further, she stated the movement was side-to-
side and had a short cycle duration.  She continued across the bridge to a nearby 
appointment. 
 
 After her appointment, Ms. Schwartz returned to her vehicle.  As she approached 
her vehicle, she could see the I-35W bridge and noticed what she described as a “mirage” 
effect coming off the water below the bridge on the west side.  It appeared to her as if the 
“mirage” effect was moving towards the bridge.  As she watched, the bridge collapsed.  
Ms. Schwartz stated that the collapse itself was relatively silent; when she re-entered the 
business she had just left, no one inside had heard or felt the collapse. 
 

Ms. Schwartz went to the scene and assisted as described in her first statement.  
She stated that she suffered a temporary loss of hearing from the time of the collapse until 
approximately midnight that night.  She also stated that people in the business she was 
visiting told her they had felt something at the time Ms. Schwartz was on the bridge but 
did not feel the collapse. 

 
Ms. Schwartz also indicated the oil in her vehicle had been found to be 

contaminated by an unknown substance after the collapse; she insisted the oil was fine 
before the collapse and the problem has not re-occurred since. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Andre-------------- Deck Hand on board the Minneapolis Queen 
   DOB:--------- -------------------- 

   
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 

Sgt. Thomas Stiller, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-7-2007 
LOCATION:  On board the Minneapolis Queen, docked at Boom Island 
 

The interviewee was a deck hand on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed.   
 

At the time of the I-35W bridge collapse, on 8-1-2007, Mr. Schwert said that the 
boat was approaching the lock.  Mr. Schwert indicated that he was standing behind Ross 
Dzurko on the first level of the boat, toward the front of the boat, on the right side, near 
the right side doorway.  He said that he heard a rumbling-grumbling noise.  He said that 
he saw the pier that was directly in front of the boat fall and pivot toward the boat and 
then the center part of the bridge fell flat.   

 
Mr. Schwert did not see or hear any traffic or construction on the bridge prior to it 

collapsing. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Greg Smith, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 

Sgt. Thomas Stiller, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-9-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN  
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mr. Smith indicated that he was on the upper level of the boat, on the left side, 
standing with Rick Sobotka at the time of the collapse.   Mr. Smith stated that he was 
looking at the lock prior to the bridge collapse and then heard a muffled/thunderous 
sound that brought his attention to the bridge.  Mr. Smith then said that he saw the center 
of the bridge twist toward him and fall.  He then saw the North side of the bridge deck 
break into a “V”.   

 
Mr. Smith said that he did not hear or see any construction going on or traffic on 

the bridge prior to the collapse. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Rick J. Sobotka, Jr., Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 
    
INTERVIEWER: Officer Thomas Hendrickson, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mr. Sobotka stated that he was on the upper deck of the boat, toward the front by 
the stairs and smoke stack, standing there taking video with his cell phone at the time of 
the collapse.  He stated that he heard a loud sound in rapid secession like an explosion of 
a demolition project.  He then saw dust clouds eminiating from the joints in the road 
deck.  Mr. Sobotka stated that the bridge fell South to North with the North section 
moving upward.  He saw a red car fall off the bridge.  Mr. Sobotka was not aware of any 
construction going on or traffic on the bridge prior to the collapse. 

 
Mr. Sobotka gave the video from his cell phone to FBI Special Agent Brian 

Kenny. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: David L. Steffen, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Officer Thomas Hendrickson, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mr. Steffen stated that he was on the upper deck of the boat, on the left side of the 
boat, about in the middle on the railing.  He stated that he heard a crackling sound like 
snapping ice or a tree splintering.  He then looked up and saw the North side of the bridge 
start to fall and then the entire middle section fell.  According to Mr. Steffen the 
movement of the bridge falling appeared to be near the pier to the North of the center 
section.   He stated that he saw a car sliding and falling from the center section.  Mr. 
Steffen indicated that he was not aware of any construction going on or traffic on the 
bridge prior to the collapse. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Heather L. Steffen, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Officer Thomas Hendrickson, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mrs. Steffen stated that he was on the lower deck of the boat, outside on the left 
side of the boat.  She stated that she was taking photos when she saw dust or smoke from 
the North section of the bridge, she then heard the sounds of shearing, splintering, 
breaking, and snapping.  Mrs. Steffen indicated that she saw the South section fall and 
then the North section fall, and then the center section fall.  She said that she saw a 
minivan skidding and slamming into the guardrail.  She said that she took approximately 
20 photos after the bridge collapse.  Those photos were given to NTSB investigator 
Morrison.  Mrs. Steffen was not aware of any construction going on or traffic on the 
bridge prior to the collapse. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Jim Styczinski, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mr. Styczinski stated that he was sitting on a bench at the front of the boat, on the 
lower deck, with Frank and Janelle.  He stated that he was looking forward at the lock 
when the bridge appeared to be shaking, rumbling and falling and the bridge made a 
sound like a rubber band snapping.  The bridge then rotated toward him so that he cold 
see the road surface.  Mr. Styczinski said that he saw a white minivan fall.  Mr. 
Styczinski was not aware of any construction noises or traffic on the bridge prior to the 
collapse. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Corey Swingen, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mr. Swingen stated that he was sitting at a table on the upper deck, at the rear of 
the boat, looking off to the left of the boat.  He said that his wife was standing in front of 
him, on the left side of the boat near the railing.  Mr. Swingen indicated that he heard a 
rumbling noise then the lanes of the bridge rotated toward the boat.  He saw a big white 
cloud of dust and smoke.  Mr. Swingen was not aware of any construction noises but 
could see tops of vehicles on the bridge prior to the collapse. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Stephanie Swingen, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  8-9-2007 
LOCATION:  --------------------- 
   --------------- ------------------ ---------------- 

---------------------- 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mrs. Swingen stated that she was on the left side upper deck of the boat near the 
railing, looking towards the North end of the bridge at the time of the collapse.  She 
indicated that her husband, Corey Swingen, was sitting at a table behind her at the rear of 
the boat.  Mrs. Swingen said that she saw a dust cloud on the North side of the bridge 
followed by a low pitch grumbling noise.  She said that the various sections of the bridge 
fell in sequence from the outside toward the center span of the bridge.  According to Mrs. 
Swingen, the center span came down straight and the North side span rotated towatrd the 
She added that she saw a Red or Maroon car fall into the water on the North side of te 
bridge and also recalled the blue minivan hitting the median.  Mrs. Swingen stated that 
after the collapse there was total silence.  She was not aware of any construction noises or 
traffic on the bridge prior to it collapsing. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Shawn Thao, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mr. Thao stated that he was taking pictures while the boat was passing through 
the upper lock, then while they were approaching the lower lock (near location of I-35W 
bridge) he was standing on the left side of the upper deck near the captain’s door next to 
Rick Sobotka, who was messing around with the video feature of his cell phone.   Mr. 
Thao indicated that Mr. Sobotka did capture a partial view of the bridge collapsing on his 
cell phone.   

 
Mr. Thao witnessed the center section of the bridge come down first, as it fell he 

said that it fell flat and he saw a red and a gray car go into the water.  He said that it 
seemed very quiet as it fell and he did not note any noises.  Mr. Thao was not aware of 
any construction noises or traffic on the bridge prior to it collapsing. 

 
 

 

137



SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Tou Nou Thao, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Officer Thomas Hendrickson, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 

St. Paul, MN 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mr. Thao stated that he was standing at the rail on the lower deck neat the 
stairway, eating when he heard a loud noise like thunder.  He then heard the other 
passengers talking in an alarmed fashion, he looked up, saw a land cloud of dust in the 
middle of the bridge, and the saw the North section of the bridge fall.  Mr. Thao indicated 
that he took 3 pictures of the bridge after it fell on his cell phone, indicating that the 
quality of the pictures were poor.  Mr. Thao was not aware of any construction noises or 
traffic on the bridge prior to it collapsing. 
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Erik Wood, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Jennifer L. Morrison, NTSB - Office of Highway Safety 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  Image Sensing Systems Inc. 
   1600 University Ave West 
                                    St. Paul, MN 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mr. Wood stated that he had received a phone call from his babysitter and had 
gone up onto the right side of the upper deck of the boat to talk to her in private.  At the 
time of the collapse he was talking on his cell phone, facing toward the bridge when he 
observed a newer model tan minivan hovering in the air.  Mr. Wood then stated that the 
South side of the bridge fell down, the lanes rotated towards him, and then the collapsing 
of the bridge progressed to the North.  He heard a thunder-like rumble with metal 
creaking as the bridge fell.  Mr. Wood was not aware of any construction noises and 
could not see of hear the vehicle traffic on the bride prior to it collapsing.   
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SUMMARY OF WITNESS INTERVIEW 
CONCERNING THE I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE 

 
INTERVIEWEE: Jessica Wood, Passenger on the Minneapolis Queen 

   
INTERVIEWER: Sgt. Thomas Stiller, Minneapolis Police Department 
 
DATE:  8-8-2007 
LOCATION:  --------------------- 

-------------------------- 
                                    ---------------------- 
 
 The interviewee was a passenger on the Minneapolis Queen, a passenger carrying 
paddleboat that was in the area of the I-35W Bridge at the time it collapsed. 
 

Mrs. Wood stated that she was standing on the lower level of the boat, on the 
front deck just behind Becky D. and Lisa Chubb.  She was looking at the span of the 
bridge South of the river.  She indicated that she witnessed that section of the bridge twist 
and rotate toward her, adding that it sounded like a very loud airplane.  Mrs. Wood then 
described the middle section falling as one piece followed by the North side of the bridge 
breaking and forming a “V”.  Mrs. Wood was not aware of any construction noises but 
could see and hear vehicle traffic moving slowly on the bride prior to it collapsing.      
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